RETENTION OF IRON BY INFANTS

Samuel J. Fomon, Steven E. Nelson, and Ekhard E. Ziegler

Fomon Infant Nutrition Unit, Department of Pediatrics, University of Iowa, Iowa City, Iowa 52242-1083; e-mail: samfomon@aol.com, snelson@blue.weeg.uiowa.edu, ekhard-ziegler@uiowa.edu

Key Words iron absorption, stable isotopes, ⁵⁹Fe whole-body counting

■ **Abstract** Throughout the world, the most common nutritional deficiency disorder of infants is iron deficiency. Developing effective strategies for preventing iron deficiency requires detailed knowledge of iron retention under ordinary living conditions. For the adult population, such knowledge is at an advanced stage, but relatively little is known about infants. Many reports of iron retention by infants have been based on the assumption that, as in normal and iron-deficient adults, 80%–100% of newly absorbed iron is promptly incorporated into circulating erythrocytes, but this assumption is not supported by available data. This communication presents a review of iron retention by term and preterm infants, as determined by metabolic balance studies or ⁵⁹Fe whole-body counting studies, and it explores the relationship between iron retention and postnatal age, iron nutritional status, iron intake (or dose), and type of feeding.

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	274
DEFINITION OF IRON ABSORPTION	274
METHODS FOR DETERMINING IRON RETENTION	275
Iron-Retention Studies Without the Use of an Iron Isotope	276
Iron-Retention Studies with the Inclusion of an Iron Isotope	276
⁵⁹ Fe Whole-Body Counting	276
Double-Isotope Method	
REVIEW OF IRON-RETENTION STUDIES WITH INFANTS	277
Small Dose of an Iron Isotope Given Between Feedings	277
Iron Retention from the Diet—Human Milk	
Iron Retention from the Diet—Formula	283
Iron Retention from the Diet—Beikost	283
RELATION OF IRON RETENTION TO TYPE OF FEEDING, AGE,	
IRON NUTRITIONAL STATUS, PREMATURITY, AND IRON DOSE	
Effect of Food, Type of Feeding	284
Age	284
Iron Nutritional Status	284
Term Versus Preterm Infants	285
Iron Dose/Iron Concentration of Feeding	285

ERYTHROCYTE INCORPORATION OF RETAINED IRON (UTILIZATION)	286
SUMMARY	286

INTRODUCTION

In both highly industrialized and less-industrialized countries, iron deficiency is the most common nutritional deficiency disorder of infants and young children. Within this age group, infants are at greatest risk because of rapid expansion of hemoglobin mass and the consequent high requirement for absorbed iron. Iron deficiency in infants is less prevalent and less severe in the United States now than it was in the past (35), but it still ranks as the leading nutritional deficiency disorder.

Until the 1960s, most infants in the United States were fed either infant formulas low in iron or cow milk, and it is therefore not surprising that many were iron deficient. Anemia in infancy was commonly defined as hemoglobin concentration less than 10 g/dl, and data indicating that the cause of the anemia was iron deficiency included abnormalities in erythrocyte morphology (hypochromia, anisocytosis, and poikilocytosis) and decreased iron saturation of transferrin (12). Even with this definition, iron-deficiency anemia was reported to be present in 20% or more of low-income infants and toddlers.

Subsequently, when it became widely appreciated that a decrease in hemoglobin concentration and morphologic changes in the erythrocytes occur only after iron stores have been exhausted, and that nearly all individuals with adequate iron stores will maintain a hemoglobin concentration of 11 g/dl or more, the aim in public health nutrition shifted from prevention of iron-deficiency anemia to prevention of iron deficiency. Efforts to prevent iron deficiency have seemed more urgent since an association has been established between iron-deficiency anemia during the first few years of life and delayed cognitive development (7, 29, 36, 43, 44), and although we do not yet know whether iron-deficiency anemia is a cause of delayed cognitive development or merely a marker for it, the possibility that the relationship is causal makes it urgent that strategies be developed to prevent iron deficiency in infants. Developing such prevention strategies requires knowledge of the requirement for absorbed iron and knowledge of iron absorption under ordinary feeding circumstances. Much less is known about these areas in infants and children than in adults.

DEFINITION OF IRON ABSORPTION

The extent of retention of an iron isotope given with or without food has generally been determined in 3–7 days by metabolic balance studies, or in about 2 weeks by whole-body counting after administration of ⁵⁹Fe. These studies have been referred to as studies of iron absorption. However, because excretion of an isotopic iron tracer and therefore, presumably, of iron continues for weeks after

administration of an oral dose (19), the proportion remaining in the body 3 or 4 days after ingestion is greater than that remaining 14 days after ingestion. To avoid the imprecise definition commonly used, we proposed that iron absorption be defined as entry of iron from the intestinal lumen into the enterocyte, with subsequent transfer of the iron from the enterocyte to the circulation (19). According to this definition, unabsorbed iron includes iron that fails to enter the enterocyte, as well as iron that enters the enterocyte but is returned to the intestinal lumen with exfoliation of the enterocyte. We define iron absorption as the iron retained by the body 4 days after an iron dose, believing that 4 days best corresponds to the timing of events in the uptake of iron by the enterocytes and the subsequent transfer of iron to the circulation.

The life span of intestinal mucosal cells in the adult human duodenum and jejunum is 5–7 days (32), and the life span of mucosal cells in similar locations (the major sites for iron absorption) in an infant's intestines is presumably no longer than that in an adult. It is known that uptake of an iron isotope by intestinal cells occurs primarily in enterocytes that have migrated to the tip of the villus and are by then 3–5 days old (34, 38, 52). Therefore, it is likely that fecal excretion of the isotope during the first 4 days after isotope administration consists of (a) isotope that never entered enterocytes, (b) isotope that entered the enterocytes but was returned to the lumen when the enterocytes were sloughed, and (c) a small amount of absorbed isotope that was re-excreted into the lumen. We suspect that fecal excretion of isotope during days 5–7 after isotope administration consists mainly of isotope that was present in sloughed enterocytes and isotope that was absorbed into the circulation and then re-excreted. Fecal enrichment beyond 7 days presumably consists almost entirely of re-excreted isotope. According to our definition, iron absorption is a subcategory of iron retention (i.e. the quantity of ingested iron retained in the body 4 days after administration). We believe that retention of iron over any other time interval should be designated iron retention rather than iron absorption, and the time over which retention was determined should be specified.

Although the distinction between iron absorption and iron retention is conceptually important, the difference in iron retention at 3 days and 14 days is generally less than the differences resulting from other factors both within and between studies, the most important being age, iron nutritional status, iron intake, size of iron dose in which an isotope is delivered, and timing of isotope administration. Therefore, with few exceptions, in the remainder of this article we avoid use of the word absorption and refer only to iron retention.

METHODS FOR DETERMINING IRON RETENTION

Iron retention can be determined by metabolic balance studies without or with use of an iron isotope, by whole-body counting for ⁵⁹Fe, or by a double-isotope method.

Iron-Retention Studies Without the Use of an Iron Isotope

Intake and fecal excretion of iron are determined over a specified time interval. Such studies have been performed in term (11, 30, 40, 50, 51, 54, 56) and preterm infants (5, 57). In the studies reported in the 1950s and earlier, the methods for determining iron content of food and feces lacked the precision of later methods. For example, in the meticulously conducted balance studies by Wallgren (56) with exclusively breast-fed infants, the iron content of the milk was reported to be more than 0.5 mg/L in a number of samples obtained from women after the third month of lactation—values that seem most unlikely based on more recent studies of the iron content of human milk after the first few months of lactation (14). We have excluded the early studies from consideration.

Iron-Retention Studies with the Inclusion of an Iron Isotope

In iron-retention studies that include an iron isotope, it is possible to determine (a) iron retention from the whole diet (as is done in iron-balance studies without an iron isotope), (b) retention from an isotopically labeled dose of iron given between feedings, or (c) retention of iron from a feeding or feedings in which the isotope is included. Several groups of investigators have reported results of metabolic balance studies with an iron isotope in term (10, 20, 39, 49) and preterm (8, 21, 57) infants.

⁵⁹Fe Whole-Body Counting

With whole-body counting, ⁵⁹Fe, a gamma emitter, is administered orally and whole-body counting is subsequently performed to determine the quantity of ⁵⁹Fe remaining in the body. Such studies have been reported in term and preterm infants by Heinrich et al (25, 26) and Götze et al (22), and in term infants by Saarinen et al (47) and Saarinen & Siimes (46).

Double-Isotope Method

In the method of Saylor & Finch (48), one iron isotope is administered intravenously and another orally. Subsequently, erythrocyte incorporation of both isotopes is determined and the assumption is made that the same percentage of the intravenously administered isotope and of the retained amount of the orally administered isotope is incorporated into erythrocytes. Thus, the ratio of erythrocyte incorporation of the orally administered isotope to that of the intravenously administered isotope is the fraction of the orally administered isotope retained by the body, and it is therefore possible to determine retention of the orally administered isotope without fecal collection or whole-body counting. This approach has not been carried out with term infants, but there are two reports (41,58) concerning preterm infants.

All the approaches to determining iron retention are subject to procedural and methodological errors. In balance studies that do not include administration of an isotope, the major difficulties are in obtaining accurate determinations of iron intake and its fecal excretion. The errors in intake can be minimized by the inclusion of an iron isotope, but this inclusion does little to minimize the errors in fecal collection. Accurate results with ⁵⁹Fe whole-body counting require meticulous attention to calibration of the counter, inclusion of a preliminary count in the first 24 h after administration, and a final count at a designated time (nearly always 10–14 days) after ⁵⁹Fe administration. The double-isotope method of Saylor & Finch (48) has been validated in adults under precisely defined conditions (37,42), but it has not been validated in infants or children. Moreover, procedures involving the provision of substantial amounts of an iron isotope intravenously over the course of 12–24 h (58) and the nonconcurrent administration of oral and intravenous doses of isotope (41) have not been validated even in adults. We have therefore excluded from consideration the two studies of preterm infants.

In addition to these three "direct" methods of determining iron retention, erythrocyte incorporation of an iron isotope is widely used as a surrogate for retention of the isotope. The approach is based on the assumption that 80%–100% of an absorbed isotope is present in circulating erythrocytes 10–14 days after isotope administration, an assumption that has been shown to be valid in normal and iron-deficient adults (23, 33, 37). As we discuss, the assumption that 80%–100% of retained iron is promptly incorporated into erythrocytes is not valid in term (19) or preterm (8, 21, 57) infants, and has not been tested in children beyond infancy. However, recent data (19) indicate that in infants (as in adults), when conditions of study are similar, erythrocyte incorporation of iron is correlated with retention. We therefore include studies of erythrocyte incorporation of iron and studies of iron retention in summarizing the effects of age, of iron intake, and of foods on iron retention.

REVIEW OF IRON-RETENTION STUDIES WITH INFANTS

Iron-retention studies with infants are summarized in Table 1. We have ignored reports that include four or fewer balance studies with infants. Because results of iron-retention studies are generally skewed toward higher values, geometric means are preferable to the somewhat greater arithmetic means; however, because most of the means reported in the literature are arithmetic, we present arithmetic means. Although some of the reports of iron-balance studies include urinary excretion, the quantities of iron excreted in urine are a trivial fraction of those excreted in feces, and we ignore urinary excretion.

Small Dose of an Iron Isotope Given Between Feedings

Studies in which a small dose of isotopically labeled iron is given between feedings reveal little about the practical consideration of iron retention from the whole diet; nevertheless, such studies are useful in exploring the effects of age, iron nutritional status, size of iron dose in which isotope is included, and type of feeding (e.g. human milk, infant formula) that precedes and follows isotope administration.

TABLE 1 Iron retention by term and preterm infants^a

					Duration	Iron		
Determinant	No. of subjects	No. of studies	Age^c	$ Weight^b \\ (g) $	of study (days)	intake ^b (mg)	Retention (% intake) ^b	Comment
Small dose of iron isotope between feedings ^c	tope between	n feedings ^c	1					
Garby & Sjolin	12	12	10-90 days	NG	3	$10.12 \mu \mathrm{g}$	53.7 (25.1)	Iron intake refers
(20) _a								to 27 Fe-labeled
Götze et al	33	33	<1 mo	NG	14	0.56	18 (7)	Birth weight > 2500 g
$(22)^{e}$	27	27	<1 mo	NG	14	0.56	17 (7)	Birth weight <2500 g
	42	42	1-3 mo	NG	14	0.56	30 (12)	Birth weight $> 2500 \mathrm{g}$
	32	32	1-3 mo	NG	14	0.56	40 (20)	Birth weight <2500 g
	25	25	3–6 mo	NG	14	0.56	37 (16)	Birth weight > 2500 g
	11	11	3–6 mo	NG	14	0.56	64 (17)	Birth weight <2500 g
Saarinen et al	18	18	5.9–7.3 mo	7500 (1273)	14	Trace	38.1 (27.6)	Breast-fed infants
(47) ^f	16	16	5.9–7.3 mo	(008) 0008	14	Trace	19.5 (20.8)	Formula-fed infants
Iron retention from the diet:	_	human milk						
Schulz-Lell et al $(50)^g$	10	39	15-112 days	<4000->6800	3	See comment	51.2 (33.9)	Iron intake about 0.07 mg kg ⁻¹ day ⁻¹
Saarinen et al (47) ^f	11	11	5.9–7.3 mo	7900 (663)	14	Trace	48.8 (26.2)	Isotope given with feeding
Dauncey et al	9	12	10-30 days	NG	3	0.073	See comment	Preterm infants
(5) ^h						(0.0187)		iron intake in mg kg ⁻¹ day ⁻¹ ; retention negative in 11 of 12 studies
	2	9	10–28 days	ŊŊ	Ŋ	0.10	54.0 (17.2)	Small-for-gestational-age age infants; iron intake in mg kg ⁻¹ day ⁻¹

Preterm infants given supplemental iron; iron intake in mg kg ⁻¹ day ⁻¹	Fed formula	supplemented with iron; iron intake about	$1.82 \text{ mg kg}^{-1} \text{ day}^{-1}$ Formula containing	bovine lactoferrin;	$mg kg^{-1} day^{-1}$	Formula unsupple-	mented with bovine	lactoferrion; iron intake	about 0.12 mg	kg ⁻¹ day ⁻¹	0.04 mg of iron in	50-ml test feeding	0.34 mg of iron in	50-ml test feeding	0.64 mg of iron in	50-ml test feeding	Formula with ⁵⁸ Fe-	labeled ferric chloride	Formula with ⁵⁸ Fe-	labeled bovine lacto-	ferrin	(Continued)
22.2 (15.1)	34.0 (20.8)		36			28					12.5 (9.2)		9.2 (10.5)		6.7 (4.4)		44.4 (25.8)		46.2 (23.9)			
8.08 (2.91)	See comment		See comment			See comment					See comment		See comment		See comment		$165 \mu g/day$		$192 \mu \mathrm{g/day}$			
8	8		8			33					14		14		14		3		3			
NG	15–115 days <3300–>6800		NG			NG					9000-11,000		9000-11,500		8100-11,500		2060-3500		2660-4000			
30–72 days	15-115 days		15–115 days			15-115 days					11-13 mo		11-13 mo		11-13 mo		7 days		7 days			
18	ormula 15		30			28					10		6		10		16		13			
3	e diet: f		7			6					10		6		10		16		13			
	Iron retention from the diet: formula Schulz-Lell et al 4 1	§(05)	Schulz-Lell et al	(51) ^g							Saarinen & Siimes	$(46)^{f}$					Fairweather-Tait	et al $(10)^{\rm h}$				

Annu. Rev. Nutr. 2000.20:273-290. Downloaded from www.annualreviews.org by Morehead State University on 01/04/12. For personal use only.

(Continued) TABLE 1

					Duration	Iron		
	No. of	No. of		$ m Weight^b$		intake ^b	Retention	
Determinant	subjects	studies Age ^c	Age^c	(g)	(days)	(mg)	(% intake) ^b	Comment
Iron retention from the diet: Beikost	diet: Beiko	st						
Martinez et al	∞	8	6 mo	8250 (410)	7	2.9–3.4	17.0 (11.1)	Meat-containing meals
(39) ^j						mg/meal		with added heme iron
	∞	8	6 mo	7780 (920)	7	2.9–3.4	28.4 (12.7)	Meat-containing meals
						mg/meal		with added ferrous
								sulfate

[&]quot;See Table 2 for the following: Fomon et al (19), term infants; Gorten et al (21), preterm infants; Ehrenkranz et al (8), preterm infants; and Widness et al (57), preterm infants. ^bValues in parentheses are standard deviations.

^JBalance studies; meals labeled with ⁵⁷Fe.

cWhen no isotope was given, age at start of fecal collection; otherwise age at time of isotope administration. NG, Not given. ^dBreast-fed and formula-fed term infants; balance studies with ⁵⁹Fe.

e39Fe-labeled iron (0.56 mg) given with 18 mg of ascorbic acid after a 6-h fast; retention determined by whole-body counting.

Ferm infants; balance studies, no iron isotope. frerm infants; 59Fe whole-body counting.

^hPreterm and small-for-gestational-age infants; balance studies, no iron isotope.

^{&#}x27;Term infants; ⁵⁸Fe balance studies.

In the great majority of the studies, ascorbic acid was included with the dose to enhance iron absorption.

Garby & Sjolin (20) reported a mean retention of 53.7% of intake in 10- to 90-day-old infants (Table 1), and Fomon et al (19) reported a mean retention (at 11 days) of 27.8% in 20- to 69-day-old infants and 32.5% in 165- to 215-day-old infants (Table 2). Gorten et al (21) reported a mean retention of 23.1% of intake by preterm infants with reticulocyte counts less than 5% and 37.8% of intake for infants with reticulocyte counts greater than 5% (Table 2). In more recent studies of preterm infants, Ehrenkranz et al (8) reported a mean retention of 41.6% of a dose of ⁵⁸Fe given between feedings, and Widness et al (57) reported a mean retention of 34.0% of a dose given 1 h after interruption of continuous nasogastric feedings (Table 2.)

TABLE 2 Retention, erythrocyte incorporation, and utilization of an administered iron isotope by term and preterm infants

Determinants	Fon et a (ter	l (19)		ten (21) term)	Ehrenkranz et al (8) (preterm)	Widness et al (57) (preterm)	
No. subjects ^a	9	9	6 ^b	8 ^c	11	10	
Age (days) ^d							
Mean	41	191	18	38	26	23	
SD	14	20	10	15	14	6	
Weight (g) ^e							
Mean	4823	8471	1545	1341	1431	975	
SD	814	618	361	289	150	105	
Duration of study	11	11	8-14	7–9	7	10	
(days)							
Retention (%) ^f							
Mean	27.8	32.5	23.1	37.8	41.6	34.0	
SD	7.6	16.2	14.5	20.6	17.6	7.9	
Erythrocyte incorpo	ration (%) ^f						
Mean	7.1	26.5	6.5	21.9	12.0	4.0	
SD	6.0	9.8	3.8	12.6	9.6	1.8	
Utililization (%) ^g							
Mean	23.1	51.9	40.0	55.4	28.7	12.1	
SD	13.9	28.4	33.6	21.7	22.3	7.2	

^aOne study with each infant except for Widness et al, in which three subjects were studied twice; one study with 121% utilization has been omitted from the summary.

bReticulocyte count less than 5%.

^cReticulocyte count more than 5%.

^dPostnatal age at time of isotope administration. SD, standard deviation of the mean.

eWeight at time of isotope administration, except value for Gorten et al is birth weight.

Percentage of intake.

gErythrocyte incorporation divided by retention ×100.

TABLE 3 Retention of an iron isotope by term infants in relation to iron nutritional status, size of iron dose, and effect of formula^a

				Re	tention of ⁵	⁹ Fe (%	dose)		
			Iron suf	ficient			Iron defi	icient	
Age	Dose		thout mula		ith rmula		ithout rmula		ith rmula
(month)	(mg)	No.b	Mean ^c	No.	Mean	No.	Mean	No.	Mean
3-6 ^d	0.56	15	25.6 (9.3)			11	49.5 (13.7)		
$1-18^{e}$	5.0	3	18.0 (5)	3	3.8 (2.0)	9	26 (8.4)	9	8.5 (4.1)
1-18 ^e	10	12	7.6 (1.7)			4	19 (8.6)		

a59Fe dose given after a fast with or without 50 ml of milk-based formula; retention determined by whole-body counting 2 weeks after isotope administration.

The whole-body counting studies of Heinrich and coworkers (22, 24-26) are of particular interest because they were carried out with great care, and wholebody counting was done before ⁵⁹Fe administration (permitting correction for background) as well as 8–12 h and 14 days after ⁵⁹Fe administration (24). Heinrich et al (25) determined iron retention with a large number of term and preterm infants after administration of 0.56 mg of ⁵⁹Fe-labeled ferrous iron given after a 6-h fast. The data plus some additional data were summarized by Götze et al (22) and are presented in Table 1. Iron retention by infants with birth weights more than 2500 g averaged 18% of intake by those less than 1 month of age, 30% of intake by those from 1 to 3 months of age, and 37% by those from 3 to 6 months of age. Corresponding values for infants with birth weights less than 2500 g were 17%, 40%, and 64%. Heinrich et al (26) also administered larger doses of iron after a fast and reported mean retention in 1- to 18-month-old iron-sufficient infants of 18% of intake with a 5-mg dose and 7.6% of intake with a 10-mg dose (Table 3). In iron-deficient infants of similar age, retention was 26% of intake with a 5-mg dose and 19% of intake with a 10-mg dose. Saarinen et al (47) reported retention of 38.1% by 6- to 7-month-old breast-fed infants and of 19.5% by formula-fed infants given a very small dose of ⁵⁹Fe between feedings.

Iron Retention from the Diet—Human Milk

Schulz-Lell et al (50) reported mean iron retention of 51.2% of intake by term breast-fed infants 15–112 days old, and Saarinen et al (47) reported retention of

bNumber of subjects; one study per subject.

cValues in parentheses are standard deviations.

^dData of Götze et al (22) (see Table 1).

eData of Heinrich et al (26).

48.8% by 6- to 7-month-old infants given a very small dose of ⁵⁹Fe with a breast feeding (Table 1). Iron retention was found by Dauncey et al (5) to be less than intake in 11 of 12 balance studies with 10- to 30-day-old preterm infants fed human milk. In small-for-gestational-age infants aged 10–28 days, mean retention was 54% of intake, and in 30- to 72-day-old preterm infants fed human milk with supplemental iron, mean retention was 22.2% of intake.

Iron Retention from the Diet-Formula

In studies of infants at about 1 year of age, Saarinen & Siimes (46) reported that iron retention was 12% of intake from a formula with iron content of 0.8 mg/liter, 9% from a formula with iron content of 6.8 mg/liter, and 7% from a formula with iron content of 12.8 mg/liter (Table 1). Iron retention was thus inversely related to the iron content of the formula.

Fairweather-Tait et al (10) determined iron retention by 7-day-old term infants fed a formula with added bovine lactoferrin or a similar formula without bovine lactoferrin. The formulas were labeled with ⁵⁸Fe-ferric chloride or ⁵⁸Fe-bovine lactoferrin. There was no difference related to the presence of lactoferrin. Mean retention of ⁵⁸Fe was 44.4% with ⁵⁸Fe-labeled ferric chloride and 46.2% with ⁵⁸Fe-labeled bovine lactoferrin. The means were substantially increased by several high retention values, which the authors suggested were the result of incomplete fecal collections (10). We consider it unlikely that the extent of incomplete collections was sufficient to invalidate the conclusion that even 7-day-old infants retain substantial amounts of orally administered iron. Schulz-Lell et al (50) reported mean iron retention of 34% by four term infants fed formula with iron content of 10.3 mg/liter.

The effect of infant formula on retention of an iron isotope is evident from the data of Heinrich et al (26) (Table 3). When a 5-mg dose of ⁵⁹Fe-labeled ferrous iron was given alone to 1- to 18-month-old iron-sufficient subjects after a fast, mean retention as determined by whole-body counting was 18% of intake. When the same dose was given with a 50-ml feeding of a milk-based formula, mean retention was 3.8%. In iron-deficient subjects, retention of a 5-mg dose of iron was 26% of intake when given without food and 19% of intake when given with 50 ml of milk-based formula.

Iron Retention from the Diet—Beikost

Martinez et al (39) carried out 7-day iron-balance studies with breast-fed or formula-fed 6-month-old term infants. The subjects were fed meat-containing meals fortified with a heme iron concentrate or with ferrous sulfate. Mean iron retention was 17% of intake by infants fed the heme iron-containing meals and 28.4% of intake by infants fed the ferrous sulfate-containing meals.

RELATION OF IRON RETENTION TO TYPE OF FEEDING, AGE, IRON NUTRITIONAL STATUS, PREMATURITY, AND IRON DOSE

Effect of Food, Type of Feeding

Because of the presence of inhibitors of nonheme iron absorption in infant foods, there is less retention of an iron isotope when it is given with a feeding than when it is given between feedings. A possible exception is human milk, which has a low content of inhibitors of nonheme iron retention. The data summarized in Table 1 show that retention of iron from human milk is comparable to the retention of small doses of isotope given between feedings.

Retention of an iron isotope given with formula, on the other hand, is markedly less than retention of an isotope given between feedings. The data of Heinrich et al (26) demonstrate the major inhibition of retention resulting from giving only 50 ml of a milk-based formula (Table 3).

Even when an iron isotope is given to infants between feedings, the milk, formula, or other food consumed before and after the dose will influence iron retention, presumably because the iron from the administered dose comes into contact in the intestinal tract with dietary inhibitors of iron absorption. Saarinen et al (47) reported that when a small dose of isotope was given between feedings, mean retention was 38.5% of intake by breast-fed infants and 19.5% of intake by formula-fed infants (Table 1). Although we did not determine retention in our study of 56-day-old breast-fed and formula-fed infants who were given a dose of ⁵⁸Fe between feedings (15), erythrocyte incorporation of ⁵⁸Fe was significantly greater by breast-fed infants (20% of intake) than by formula-fed infants (6.9% of intake).

Age

The data of Götze et al (22) indicate that at least during the early months of life, retention of iron increases with age (Table 1). Retention of isotope by infants with birth weights more than 2500 g was 18% of intake during the first month of life, 30% of intake from 1 to 3 months, and 37% from 3 to 6 months of age (Table 1). Corresponding retentions by infants with birth weights less than 2500 g were 17%, 40%, and 64%. Although the age-related differences were not significant, the studies of Schulz-Lell et al (50) and Fomon et al (19) are consistent with the conclusion that retention is greater by older infants than by those in the first month or two of life.

Iron Nutritional Status

Because iron nutritional status of infants decreases with increasing age, the effect of age is nearly impossible to separate from the effect of iron nutritional status.

The data of Heinrich et al (26) indicate that in infants, as in adults, iron retention is correlated with iron nutritional status (Table 3). Iron-deficient subjects retained a greater percentage of iron than did iron-sufficient subjects in the following categories: 5-mg dose after a fast, 5-mg dose with formula, 10-mg dose after a fast.

Plasma ferritin concentration, at least after the first 2 months of life, appears in infants to reflect iron stores. Therefore, the finding by Fomon et al (19) that in infants from 165 to 215 days of age, iron retention 11 days after isotope administration was inversely related to plasma ferritin concentration is further evidence that in infants, as in adults, iron retention is inversely correlated with iron-nutritional status. In most of our studies of erythrocyte incorporation of ⁵⁸Fe by normal term infants (13, 15–17), incorporation was inversely correlated with plasma ferritin concentration, although in one study (18) the correlation was not significant.

Term Versus Preterm Infants

Although studies have not been designed to compare retention of iron by term and preterm infants, the data of Götze et al (22) suggest that after the first month of life, retention of iron may be somewhat greater by preterm than by term infants at the same postnatal age. Comparing the data of Fomon et al (19) concerning term infants with mean age of 41 days with those of Gorten et al (21), Ehrenkranz et al (8), and Widness et al (57) also suggests that at similar postnatal ages, retention is somewhat greater by preterm than by term infants (Table 2).

Iron Dose/Iron Concentration of Feeding

It has long been recognized that in adults, the percentage of retention of an orally administered dose of iron is inversely correlated with the size of the dose (3, 4, 53). Several studies suggest that in infants, as in adults, the percentage of retention of iron is inversely correlated with the size of the dose. As indicated in Table 3, the data of Götze et al (22) and Heinrich et al (26) show that mean retention of an isotope given between feedings was inversely related to the size of the dose, in both iron-sufficient and iron-deficient subjects whether the dose was given with or without formula. Furthermore, with a dose of 0.9 mg of ⁵⁸Fe-enriched ferrous sulfate, mean erythrocyte incorporation of ⁵⁸Fe was 16.5% of the dose (19), whereas in an earlier study under similar study conditions, a dose of 1.95 mg of ⁵⁸Fe-enriched ferrous sulfate (13) resulted in erythrocyte incorporation of 9.4% of the dose.

As noted above, Saarinen & Siimes (46) reported retentions of 12%, 9%, and 7% of intake, respectively, by infants fed formulas with iron concentrations of 0.8, 6.8, and 12.8 mg/liter (Table 1). Test meals of 50 ml of formula provided iron doses of 0.04, 0.34, and 0.64 mg, respectively.

ERYTHROCYTE INCORPORATION OF RETAINED IRON (UTILIZATION)

As previously mentioned, it is generally assumed (1, 2, 6, 9, 27, 28, 31, 45, 55) that 80%–100% of iron retained from an oral dose is promptly incorporated into erythrocytes (utilized). That this assumption is not valid for normal infants is evident from the studies summarized in Table 2. In 20- to 65-day-old term infants, isotope retention at 11 days was 27.8% of intake, and utilization was 23.1%, and in 165- to 215-day-old infants, retention was 32.5% of intake and utilization was 51.9% of intake (19). Similarly, in preterm infants, the prompt erythrocyte incorporation of retained iron is far less than the 80%–100% that has been commonly assumed.

In our study of infants fed iron-supplemented infant formulas (18), mean erythrocyte incorporation of ⁵⁸Fe from a formula with iron content of 12 mg/liter was 2.68% of intake, which amounted to 0.32 mg of iron per day. On the assumption that utilization was 80%, daily retention of iron would have been 0.4 mg/day. This mean retention is less than the estimated daily iron requirement (14) of 0.55–0.75 mg/day. As summarized previously (14), a number of studies have demonstrated that nearly all term infants fed formulas with an iron content of 12 mg/liter remain in good iron nutritional status, which would not be likely to be the case if the iron requirement has been correctly estimated and the mean retention from such formulas is only 0.4 mg/day. However, with the evidence that utilization is no greater than 50%, erythrocyte incorporation of 0.32 mg/day translates into retention of at least 0.64 mg/day.

SUMMARY

For more than 50 years, vigorous exploration of iron kinetics in adult subjects has been pursued with the aid of radioisotopes of iron. These studies have provided an understanding of iron metabolism and iron requirements of adults. They have also provided a sound basis for recommendations regarding the means of meeting the iron requirements of adults. Similar knowledge of infants and children has lagged far behind, at least in part because of the reluctance of most investigators to administer radioisotopes to normal infants or children. In fact, as is evident from the data presented in Tables 1 and 2, a high proportion of the most useful information available before the 1990s about iron retention by infants was the result of studies with the radioisotope, ⁵⁹Fe. Although methodology for determination of stable isotopes of iron came into widespread use in the 1980s, the first report of use of these stable isotopes in infants did not appear until 1987 (10). Despite the number of studies with stable isotopes of iron that were reported in the 1990s, our knowledge of factors affecting iron retention by infants remains rudimentary.

As indicated by this review, current knowledge regarding the absorption and short-term retention of iron permits the delineation of iron absorption under a number of circumstances. However, if we are to be more successful in preventing iron deficiency in infants and preschool children, we will need to focus our efforts on obtaining a better understanding of postabsorptive metabolism of iron. For example, it has only recently been appreciated that infants promptly utilize a substantially lower proportion of absorbed iron than do adults. This finding mandates a change in thinking in the sense that, in infants and toddlers, absorbed iron is not an approximation of retained iron.

Before we can devise more successful strategies for the prevention of iron deficiency, an array of questions must be answered. What are the inevitable losses of iron from skin and gastrointestinal tract by infants? Such losses account for a substantial proportion of the requirement for absorbed iron during the first year of life. How does the timing of iron intake relate to iron retention under usual conditions of infant feeding? Can we achieve greater retention of iron by older infants if we devise feeding sequences that supply most of the dietary iron at times other than those that provide the major inhibitors of nonheme iron absorption? Can we define circumstances in infancy, as they have been defined in adults, in which an estimate of iron retention can be made from erythrocyte incorporation of iron?

Visit the Annual Reviews home page at www.AnnualReviews.org

LITERATURE CITED

- Abrams SA, O'Brien KO, Wen J, Liang LK, Stuff JE. 1996. Absorption by 1-year-old children of an iron supplement given with cow's milk or juice. *Pediatr. Res.* 39:171–75
- 2. Abrams SA, Wen J, Stuff JE. 1997. Absorption of calcium, zinc, and iron from breast milk by five-to seven-month-old infants. *Pediatr. Res.* 41:384–90
- Bonnet JD, Hagedorn AB, Owen CA Jr. 1960. A quantitative method for measuring the gastrointestinal absorption of iron. *Blood* 15:36–44
- Bothwell TH, Pirzio-Biroli G, Finch CA. 1958. Iron absorption. I. Factors influencing absorption. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 51:24–36
- Dauncey MJ, Davies CG, Shaw JCL, Urman J. 1978. The effect of iron supplements and blood transfusion on iron absorption by low birth weight infants fed pasteurized human breast milk. *Pediatr. Res.* 12:899–904
- Davidsson L, Kastenmayer P, Yuen M, Lönnerdal B, Hurrell RF. 1994. Influence of lactoferrin on iron absorption from human

- milk in infants. Pediatr. Res. 35:117-24
- de Andraca I, Castillo M, Walter T. 1997. Psychomotor development and behavior in iron-deficient anemic infants. *Nutr. Rev.* 55:125–32
- Ehrenkranz RA, Gettner PA, Nelli CM, Sherwonit EA, Williams JE, et al. 1992. Iron absorption and incorporation into red blood cells by very low birth weight infants: studies with the stable isotope ⁵⁸Fe. J. Pediatr. Gastroenterol. Nutr. 15:270–78
- Engelmann MDM, Davidsson L, Sandström B, Walczyk T, Hurrell RF, et al. 1998.
 The influence of meat on nonheme iron absorption in infants. *Pediatr. Res.* 43:768– 73
- Fairweather-Tait SJ, Balmer SE, Scott PH, Minski MJ. 1987. Lactoferrin and iron absorption in newborn infants. *Pediatr. Res.* 22:651–54
- Feuillen YM. 1954. Iron Metabolism in infants. II. Absorption of dietary iron. Acta Paediatr. 43:181–87

- Fomon SJ. 1967. Iron, fluoride and trace minerals. In *Infant Nutrition*, ed. SJ Fomon, pp. 166–67. Philadelphia, PA: Saunders
- Fomon SJ, Janghorbani M, Ting BTG, Ziegler EE, Rogers R, et al. 1988. Erythrocyte incorporation of ingested 58-iron by infants. *Pediatr. Res.* 24:20–24
- Fomon SJ. 1993. Iron. In *Nutrition of Nor-mal Infants*, ed. SJ Fomon, pp. 239–60. St. Louis, MO: Mosby
- Fomon SJ, Ziegler EE, Nelson SE. 1993. Erythrocyte incorporation of ingested ⁵⁸Fe by 56-day-old breast-fed and formula-fed infants. *Pediatr. Res.* 33:573–76
- Fomon SJ, Ziegler EE, Nelson SE, Serfass RE, Frantz JA. 1995. Erythrocyte incorporation of iron by 56-day-old infants fed a ⁵⁸Fe-labeled supplement. *Pediatr. Res.* 38:373–78
- Fomon SJ, Ziegler EE, Rogers RR, Nelson SE, Edwards BB, et al. 1989. Iron absorption from infant foods. *Pediatr. Res.* 26:250–54
- Fomon SJ, Ziegler EE, Serfass RE, Nelson SE, Frantz JA. 1997. Erythrocyte incorporation of iron is similar in infants fed formulas fortified with 12 mg/L or 8 mg/L of iron. J. Nutr. 127:83–88
- Fomon SJ, Ziegler EE, Serfass RE, Nelson SE, Rogers RR, et al. 2000. Less than 80% of absorbed iron is promptly incorporated into erythrocytes by infants. *J. Nutr.* 130:57–62
- Garby L, Sjölin S. 1959. Absorption of labelled iron in infants less than three months old. Acta Paediatr. 48:24–28
- Gorten MK, Hepner R, Workman JB. 1963. Iron metabolism in premature infants. I. Absorption and utilization of iron as measured by isotope studies. *J. Pediatr.* 63:1063–71
- 22. Götze C, Schäfer KH, Heinrich HC, Bartels H. 1970. Eisenstoffwechselstudien an Frühgeborenen und gesunden Reifgeborenen während des ersten Lebensjahres mit dem Ganzkörperzähler und anderen Meth-

- oden. Monatsschr. Kinderheilkd. 118:210– 13
- 23. Heinrich HC, Fischer R. 1982. Correlation of postabsorptive serum iron increase and erythrocyte-⁵⁹Fe-incorporation with the whole body retention of absorbed ⁵⁹Fe. *Klin. Wochenschr.* 60:1493–96
- 24. Heinrich HC, Gabbe EE, Meineke B, Whang DH. 1966. Die empfindliche und präzise Bestimmung der intestinalen Eisenresorption beim Menschen durch ⁵⁹Fe-Gesamtkärperretentions-Messung in einem 4π-Grossraum-Radioaktivitäts-Detektor. Klin. Wochenschr. 14:827–33
- Heinrich HC, Gabbe EE, Whang DH. 1969. Die Dosisabhängigkeit der intestinalen Eisenresorption bei Menschen mit normalen Eisenreserven und Personen mit prälatentem/latentem Eisenmangel. Z. Naturforschg. 24:1301–10
- Heinrich HC, Gabbe EE, Whang DH, Bender-Götze CH, Schäfer KH. 1975. Ferrous and hemoglobin-⁵⁹Fe absorption from supplemented cow milk in infants with normal and depleted iron stores. Z. Kinderheilkd. 120:251–58
- Hertrampf E, Cayazzo M, Pizarro F, Stekel A. 1986. Bioavailability of iron in soybased formulas and its effect on iron nutriture in infancy. *Pediatrics* 78:640– 45
- Hurrell RF, Davidsson L, Reddy M, Kastenmayer P, Cook JD. 1998. A comparison of iron absorption in adults and infants consuming identical infant formulas. *Br. J. Nutr.* 79:31–36
- Hurtada EK, Claussen AH, Scott KG. 1999. Early. childhood anemia and mild or moderate mental retardation. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 69:115–19
- Josephs HW. 1939. Iron metabolism in infancy. I. Factors influencing iron retention on ordinary diets. *Bull. Johns Hopkins Hosp.* 65:145–95
- Kastenmayer P, Davidsson L, Galan P, Cherouvrier F, Hercberg S, et al. 1994.
 A double stable isotope technique for

- measuring iron absorption in infants. *Br. J. Nutr.* 71:411–24
- Klein RM, McKenzie JC. 1983. The role of cell renewal in the ontogeny of the intestine. II. Regulation of cell proliferation in adult, fetal, and neonatal intestine. J. Pediatr. Gastroenterol. Nutr. 2:204–28
- Larsen L, Milman N. 1975. Normal iron absorption determined by means of whole body counting and red cell incorporation of ⁵⁹Fe. Acta Med. Scand. 198:271–74
- Lipkin M, Sherlock P, Bell B. 1963. Cell proliferation kinetics in the gastrointestinal tract of man. *Gastroenterology* 45:721–29
- Looker AC, Dallman PR, Carroll MD, Gunter EW, Johnson CL. 1997. Prevalence of iron deficiency in the United States. *JAMA* 277:973–76
- 36. Lozoff B. 1998. Explanatory mechanisms for poorer development in iron-deficient anemic infants. In *Nutrition*, *Health and Child Development*, *Sci. Publ. No. 566*, pp. 162–78. Washington, DC: Pan Am. Health Org., The World Bank, and Trop. Metab. Res. Unit
- Lunn JA, Richmond J, Simpson JD, Leask JD, Tothill P. 1967. Comparison between three radioisotope methods for measuring iron absorption. *Br. Med. J.* 3:331–33
- MacDonald WC, Trier JS, Everett NB. 1964. Cell proliferation and migration in the stomach, duodenum, and rectum of man: radioautographic studies. *Gastroen*terology 46:405–17
- Martinez C, Fox T, Eagles J, Fairweather-Tait S. 1998. Evaluation of iron bioavailability in infant weaning foods fortified with haem concentrate. J. Pediatr. Gastroenterol. Nutr. 27:419–24
- Maurer S, Greengard J, Curtis WL, Klüver C. 1934. The effect of small quantities of breast milk, liver extract, iron and copper, respectively and in combinations, upon the iron balance of artificially fed infants. *J. Pediatr.* 4:356–65
- 41. McDonald MC, Abrams SA, Schanler RJ. 1998. Iron absorption and red blood cell

- incorporation in premature infants fed an iron-fortified infant formula. *Pediatr. Res.* 44:507–11
- Pitcher CS, Williams HS, Parsonson A, Williams R. 1965. The measurement of iron absorption by the double isotope technique. Scand. J. Haematol. 11:633–41
- 43. Pollitt E. 1997. Iron deficiency and educational deficiency. *Nutr. Rev.* 55:133–40
- Pollitt E. 1999. Early iron deficiency anemia and later mental retardation. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 69:4–5
- Rios E, Hunter RE, Cook JD, Smith NJ, Finch CA. 1975. The absorption of iron as supplements in infant cereal and infant formula. *Pediatrics* 55:686–93
- Saarinen UM, Siimes MA. 1977. Iron absorption from infant milk formula and the optimal level of iron supplementation. *Acta Paediatr. Scand.* 66:719–22
- Saarinen UM, Siimes MA, Dallman PR. 1977. Iron absorption in infants: high bioavailabilty of breast milk iron as indicated by the extrinsic tag method of iron absorption and by the concentration of serum ferritin. J. Pediatr. 91:36–39
- Saylor L, Finch CA. 1953. Determination of iron absorption using two isotopes of iron. Am. J. Physiol. 172:372–76
- Schulz J, Smith NJ. 1958. Quantitative study of the absorption of iron salts in infants and children. Am. J. Dis. Child. 95: 109–19
- Schulz-Lell G, Buss R, Oldigs H-D, Dörner K, Schaub J. 1987. Iron balances in infant nutrition. Acta Paediatr. Scand. 76:585–91
- Schulz-Lell G, Dörner K, Oldigs H-D, Sievers E, Schaub J. 1991. Iron availability from an infant formula supplemented with bovine lactoferrin. *Acta Paediatr. Scand.* 80:155–58
- Shorter RG, Moertel CG, Titus JL, Reitemeier J. 1964. Cell kinetics in the jejunum and rectum of man. Am. J. Dig. Dis. 9:760–63
- Smith MD, Pannacciulli IM. 1958. Absorption of inorganic iron from graded

- doses: its significance in relation to iron absorption tests and the 'mucosal block' theory. *Br. J. Haematol.* 4:428–34
- 54. Stearns G, Stinger D. 1937. Iron retention in infancy. *J. Nutr.* 13:127–41
- Stekel A, Olivares M, Pizarro F, Chadud P, Lopez I, et al. 1986. Absorption of fortification iron from milk formulas in infants. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 43:917–22
- 56. Wallgren PA. 1933. Le fer dans la nutrition de l'enfant. III. Recherches sur le métabolisme du fer chez les enfants nourris au sein pendant la première année de

- leur existence. Rev. Fr. Pediatr. 9:196-235
- 57. Widness JA, Lombard KA, Ziegler EE, Serfass RE, Carlson SJ, et al. 1997. Erythrocyte incorporation and absorption of ⁵⁸Fe in premature infants treated with erythropoietin. *Pediatr. Res.* 41:416–23
- 58. Zlotkin SH, Lay DM, Kjarsgaard J, Longley T. 1995. Determination of iron absorption using erythrocyte iron incorporation of two stable isotopes of iron (⁵⁷Fe and ⁵⁸Fe) in very low birth weight premature infants. *J. Pediatr. Gastroenterol. Nutr.* 21: 190–99